FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON als 6/25/2021ivision I BY SUSAN La CARLSON gton CLERK 021 2:15 PM

SUPREME COURT NO. 99926-1

NO. 81212-2-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
ALEJANDRO PEÑA SALVADOR,
Petitioner.
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY
The Honorable Tanya Thorp, Judge
PETITION FOR REVIEW
JENNIFER WINKLER

Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. <u>PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Petitioner Alejandro Peña Salvador (Peña) asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' June 1, 2021 published decision in <u>State v. Peña Salvador</u>, no. 81212-2-I. The opinion (Op.) is appended to this petition.

B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR THIS COURT</u>

- 1. An accused person has the right to a fair and impartial jury. A prospective juror revealed he did not know if he could be impartial; because the complainants were children, he could be biased toward them and against Mr. Peña. He was never able to assure the court he would be fair and impartial. Did the trial court violate Peña's right to an unbiased jury by failing to excuse the juror?
- 2. Should this Court grant review to resolve a dispute between two Division One panels regarding preservation of such an error?¹
- 3. A community custody condition must not be vague, and it must be crime related. Is the condition directing that Mr. Peña "stay out of areas where children's activities regularly occur or are occurring" impermissibly vague, and does it lend itself to a reading that fails to meet minimal standards of crime-relatedness?

-1-

¹ In <u>State v. Gebremariam</u>, noted at 16 Wn. App. 2d 1009, 2021 WL 164707 (2021), a different Division One panel resolved this issue differently. Mr. Gebremariam is seeking review of this issue under case 99847-7, which is set for consideration on this Court's October 5, 2021 calendar.

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. Family background and allegations

Peña met Maria C. around 2009. RP 1347. Maria had three daughters, including J.O. (born in 1999) and L.O. (born in 2001), the two complainants in this case. RP 1276. Maria also had a third daughter, K.O., born in 2006. RP 1276.

Maria and Peña started dating and moved in together. RP 1279-80. Maria and Peña eventually had a son, K.P., in 2013. RP 1276. Maria and Peña did not marry because Maria was still married to the girls' father. RP 1318.

J.O. and L.O. grew into disobedient teenagers. RP 1005, 1094-95, 1258, 1319, 1323, 1385-88, 1395-96. They fought with family members and amongst themselves. RP 1008, 1287, 1397, 1414-15.

In February of 2018, J.O. disclosed sexual abuse to a counselor at a mentoring organization frequented by J.O. and her boyfriend. RP 705-07, 726-27, 1193. J.O. eventually testified Peña had abused her starting when she was nine or 10 years old. She described an incident in which, while lying in bed, Peña took her hand and placed it on his genitals. RP 1158-59. When she was older, she would awake to Peña touching her and placing fingers in her vagina. J.O.'s memory at trial was poor. <u>E.g.</u>, RP 1175-76.

But after reviewing a prior interview, she testified about two incidents that occurred when she was 12 or 13 years old. RP 1172-75, 1180-84.

As for L.O., when L.O. was 16, she reported to a counselor that Peña had touched her inappropriately. RP 1007, 1010. But she later retracted the allegation and avoided people who tried to talk to her about it. RP 1013-14, 1303. A year after J.O.'s disclosure, L.O. repeated her claim. RP 1018-19. L.O. eventually testified that Peña touched her breasts when she was 13 or 14. RP 990-91. She also described other inappropriate behavior by Peña occurring over the years. RP 1000.

As the case was investigated, both J.O. and L.O. revealed they had been molested by an uncle. But this information was excluded by the trial court. RP 90-93, 954-58.

2. Charges

As to J.O., the State charged Peña with one count of first degree child molestation (Count 1, occurring between March 2009 and March 2013) and two counts of second degree child rape (Counts 2 and 3, occurring between March 2012 and March 2015). The State also charged Peña with third degree child molestation relating to L.O. (Count 4, occurring between March 2011 and March 2015). CP 50-51.

3. Jury selection; inquiry of, and seating of, biased juror

Jury selection for trial began in January of 2020. RP 168. Prospective jurors filed out a questionnaire, which asked about several sensitive matters. RP 108-10, 175, 178. The trial court excused several jurors for bias after individual questioning. RP 207, 241-42, 279-80, 300-01, 307-08, 314-15, 328, 332-33, 338-39, 364-65, 372-73, 378, 390-92, 407-08, 414-15. But the court also denied defense counsel's requests to excuse additional jurors for bias, including prospective juror 44, who served on the jury. RP 224, 236-37, 261, 431-32.

Based on questionnaire answers, prospective juror 44 was questioned individually at the request of defense counsel. RP 191-94. He had stated on his questionnaire that he would "like to be impartial, but I don't know. As a school bus driver, I think of the students as my kids and grand kids." RP 424. He answered the questionnaire that way because he wasn't sure he would be impartial, "and that would be unfair" to Mr. Peña. RP 424. The juror had previously served on juries, but he was apprehensive about serving on a case that involved children. RP 425. When asked by defense counsel if he was saying he was biased against Mr. Peña, he answered "I'm afraid I might be . . . and I'm just being honest with you." RP 425.

During questioning by the prosecutor, juror 44 was asked if he was concerned that he would not be able to presume Mr. Peña innocent. RP 425. The prospective juror said he was not sure how to answer the question. RP 425-26. Upon questioning by the prosecutor, he acknowledged it was "possible" for children to lie about sexual abuse allegations, and also "possible" for them to tell the truth. RP 426. He also acknowledged that he was not entirely confident that he could evaluate credibility, because he had had "had the wool pulled over my eyes by people I've trusted." RP 427. He confirmed he would not "rush to judgment" because he believed in the system, and it was his civic duty to be a part of the system. RP 427-28. He would not jump to conclusions based on Peña's ethnicity. RP 428. Asked by the prosecutor if he could "try to" keep an open mind during the course of the trial, he said "I think I could." RP 428-29.

During follow-up questioning by defense counsel, counsel asked the prospective juror if he had formed an opinion about guilt or innocence. RP 429. The juror reiterated he did not want to make a mistake but feared he would be biased. RP 429. He also feared the evidence would be upsetting, but he would listen to both sides. RP 429. When asked if he was still unsure if he could be fair, he stated "I think so." RP 430.

Defense counsel moved to excuse the prospective juror for cause. "He did state that he has questions about whether or not he could be

impartial, and that he . . . would be biased[.] I think that I'd like to have him removed." RP 430.

The prosecutor argued the juror should not be excused because he was "incredibly thoughtful." RP 431. Prospective juror 44 had referenced the "unconscious bias" video in one of his answers but "he wasn't able to specifically indicate what that bias is." RP 431. He also indicated he would strive to presume innocence throughout trial. RP 431.

The trial court denied the motion, stating,

In consideration of Juror 44's response to the questionnaire which reads, "I would like to think I could be impartial but I don't know. As a school bus driver I think of my students as my kids or grand kids," and while the -- he said that he could not -- he didn't know how to answer the question right now about presumption of innocence.

However, in his own words and his own disclosures, as opposed to responses to questions, he indicated that he would like to say he's impartial and say that I could, but he -- on the flip side, I honestly don't know how to answer that right now. He doesn't believe that, by his own accord, wasn't being asked if he could hear from both sides, but he said listen to both sides, follow the Court's instructions, that he fundamentally believes in the system, and that he has no -- he doesn't have any preconceived notion, and then his voice dropped off and indicated that he hasn't made any conclusions regarding anyone's demographics, and that he does not have any belief that he's guilty.

He just frankly -- he doesn't want to make a mistake. The conscientiousness of this juror is exactly what we look for in

a juror. He is concerned. He is aware of implicit bias and is conscientiously making efforts to keep that in check.

As to Juror No. 44 I will . . . deny the motion to strike for cause.

RP 431-32. Prospective juror 44 served on the jury and deliberated.²

4. Testimony, verdicts, and sentence

At trial L.O. and J.O.'s testimony was as described above. But Peña testified he never touched either of them inappropriately. RP 1409-14, 1420-23. The jury nonetheless found Peña guilty of all charges. CP 52-55.

The court sentenced Peña to an indeterminate prison sentence, with accompanying lifetime community custody. CP 90; RCW 9.94A.507. The court imposed several community custody conditions, including a requirement that Peña "[s]tay out of areas where children's activities regularly occur or are occurring," which also included non-exclusive list of such areas. CP 96. The condition is discussed in detail below.

5. Appeal—and Court of Appeals decision conflicting with prior panel's decision.

Peña appealed, raising several issues including those identified above. In response to Peña's arguments regarding prospective juror 44, the State argued Peña did not preserve the issue for appeal by (1) keeping juror

-7-

² RP 637-40 (juror is not excused via peremptory challenge); CP 109-11 (peremptory challenge sheets); RP 1362, 1558 (prospective juror eventually serves as juror number 5; juror was not excused as an alternate).

44 on the jury (which state and federal law requires him to do), while (2) simultaneously using all of his peremptory challenges on jurors, any jurors. Peña filed a lengthy reply brief arguing the issue could be raised consistent with State v. Fire, 145 Wn.2d 152, 34 P.2d 1218 (2001).

Unlike a previous Division One panel,³ the Court of Appeals agreed that the issue could be raised, Op. at 6-14 ("Reading together the existing authority in Martinez-Salazar,[⁴] Fire, Gonzales,[⁵] and David,[⁶] we cannot definitively conclude that Peña's challenge to Juror 44 is waived because he did not exhaust his peremptory challenges."). But the Court of Appeals ultimately found Peña did not demonstrate actual bias. Op. at 14-17. The Court of Appeals also rejected Peña's challenge to the community custody condition discussed in this petition. Op. at 19-23. The court agreed with Peña, however, on other issues not affecting the underlying convictions.

Peña now asks this Court to grant review, determine that a biased juror served, and find that the error was preserved. He also asks this Court

³ <u>State v. Gebremariam</u>, noted at 16 Wn. App.2d 1009, 2021 WL 164707 (2021) (holding issue not preserved and rejecting this Court's language in <u>Fire</u> as dicta).

⁴ <u>United States v. Martinez-Salazar</u>, 528 U.S. 304, 120 S. Ct. 774, 145 L. Ed. 2d 792 (2000).

⁵ <u>State v. Gonzales</u>, 111 Wn. App. 276, 45 P.3d 205 (2002).

⁶ State v. David, 118 Wn. App. 61, 74 P.3d 686 (2003), modified on remand on other grounds, 130 Wn. App. 232, 122 P.3d 764 (2005).

to find that the challenged community custody condition is vague and to order that the case be remanded for a simple modification.

D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because a juror was biased and the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with prior authority.

A prospective juror candidly expressed his belief that, because of his job and the company he kept, he was not the right juror for the case. The trial court should have taken him at his word. Because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with prior authority, this Court should grant review and reverse.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, and article I, section 22, guarantee a defendant the right to trial by an impartial jury. State v. Davis, 175 Wn.2d 287, 312, 290 P.3d 43 (2012), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Schierman, 192 Wn.2d 577, 438 P.3d 1063 (2018) (plurality opinion), and State v. Gregory, 192 Wn.2d 1, 427 P.3d 621 (2018).

To protect this constitutional right, the trial court should excuse a prospective juror for cause if the juror's views "would prevent or substantially impair the performance of [their] duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath." <u>State v. Gonzales</u>, 111 Wn. App. 276, 277-78, 45 P.3d 205 (2002) (quoting <u>State v. Hughes</u>, 106 Wn.2d 176, 181, 721 P.2d 902 (1986)). "The presence of a biased juror cannot be

harmless; the error requires a new trial without a showing of prejudice." State v. Irby, 187 Wn. App. 183, 193, 347 P. 3d 1103 (2015).

At trial, either party may challenge a prospective juror for cause. RCW 4.44.130. Actual bias is a ground for challenging a prospective juror for cause. RCW 4.44.170(2). Actual bias occurs when there is "the existence of a state of mind on the part of the juror in reference to the action, or to either party, which satisfies the court that the challenged person cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party challenging." RCW 4.44.170(2); see also RCW 4.44.130. And, under CrR 6.4(c)(1), "If the judge after examination of any juror is of the opinion that grounds for challenge are present, [they] shall excuse that juror from the trial of the case."

A trial court need not excuse a prospective juror with preconceived ideas *if* the juror can set those ideas aside and decide the case on the evidence presented at the trial and the law as provided by the court. RCW 4.44.190. But if such preconceived ideas come to light, a trial court is obliged to inquire. State v. Guevara Diaz, 11 Wn. App. 2d 843, 856, 456 P.3d 869, review denied, 195 Wn.2d 1025 (2020). And a juror should be excused if, due to actual bias—inability to try the issue impartially and without prejudice to a party—it appears from "all the circumstances" the juror cannot disregard such opinion and try the issue impartially." RCW

4.44.190. If the trial court has only a "statement of partiality without a subsequent assurance of impartiality," a trial court should "always" presume juror bias. <u>Guevara Diaz</u>, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 855 (quoting <u>Miller v. Webb</u>, 385 F.3d 666, 674 (6th Cir. 2004) (quoting <u>Hughes v. United</u> States, 258 F.3d 453, 460 (6th Cir. 2001))).

Two cases from the Court of Appeals should have dictated the outcome here. In <u>Gonzales</u>, prospective juror 11 indicated bias in favor of police witnesses that "would likely affect her deliberations." <u>Gonzales</u>, 111 Wn. App. at 281. Juror 11 "also candidly admitted she did not know if she could presume Gonzales innocent in the face of officer testimony indicating guilt." <u>Id.</u> Questioning of the prospective juror occurred as follows:

DEFENSE: Is there anyone else . . . who thinks that a police officer's testimony might influence them just because they are police officers?

. . . .

JUROR 11: Just the way I was brought up—I know it's very naïve, but the way I was brought up, the police are always, you know—unless they are proven otherwise, they are always honest and straightforward, and tell the truth. So I would have a very difficult time deciding against what the police officer says.

DEFENSE: Okay. So you would presume the police officer was telling the truth? If it came down to—let's say, hypothetically, if it came down to a police officer's word versus... Gonzales's word, okay, and you're trying to assess which one of them is telling the truth, correct me if I'm

wrong, but I hear you saying that you would presume the police officer was telling the truth?

JUROR 11: Yes, I would.

DEFENSE: What if the Court instructed you that it's actually the opposite, that you're supposed to presume that the defendant is innocent unless and until the State, through its witness, the police officer, can prove to you otherwise?

JUROR 11: I don't know. It's going to be back there. That's just the way I was raised. I don't know if I could keep those separate. I don't think—I don't know if I could.

<u>Id.</u> at 278-79. Later, upon questioning by the prosecutor, the juror agreed the fact that one of the witnesses was a police officer did not relieve the State of its burden. But the juror was unable to answer a question about whether the juror would presume Gonzales innocent. <u>Id.</u> at 279.

Even though this juror did not unequivocally announce bias in favor of police officers, the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for a new trial. "At no time did Juror 11 express confidence in her ability to deliberate fairly or to follow the judge's instructions regarding the presumption of innocence." <u>Id.</u> at 282. In this respect, Juror 11 demonstrated actual bias, and the trial court had abused its discretion in rejecting Gonzales's for-cause challenge. <u>Id.</u> at 282.

In <u>Irby</u>, a prosecution for aggravated murder, a prospective juror explained that because she had worked for Child Protective Services, she was "more inclined towards the prosecution." <u>Irby</u>, 187 Wn. App. at 190.

When asked whether that experience would affect her ability to be fair and impartial, the juror responded, "'I would like to say he's guilty."" Id. Neither the trial court nor the prosecutor asked any follow-up questions seeking to determine whether the juror could be impartial. Id. Meanwhile, Irby (who had waived counsel) had voluntarily absented himself from the trial, saying he did not believe he could get a fair trial in Skagit County. Id. at 189.

The Court of Appeals held that the juror's response was effectively an "unqualified statement that she did not think she could be fair." <u>Id.</u> at 196. Even though, unlike in <u>Gonzales</u>, there was no for-cause challenge, the trial court committed reversible error by failing to excuse the juror sua sponte. <u>Irby</u>, 187 Wn. App. at 196.

Based on these cases—and the statutes and court rules underpinning them—the Court of Appeals should have reversed. This case is particularly similar to Gonzales. Prospective juror 44 told the parties and court that he doubted his ability to be fair in a child sex abuse case based on his profession and his relationships with children. He had stated on his questionnaire that he would "like to be impartial, but I don't know. As a school bus driver, I think of the students as my kids and grand kids." RP 424. He told the parties and court he had answered the questionnaire in that manner because he wasn't sure he would be impartial, "and that would be

unfair" to Mr. Peña. RP 424. The juror admired the justice system and had served on juries, but he doubted his ability to be fair on a case that involved children. RP 425. When asked by defense counsel if he was saying he was biased against Mr. Peña, he said "I'm afraid I might be . . . and I'm just being honest with you." RP 425. When the prosecutor attempted rehabilitation, he allowed that he could "try" to keep an open mind. RP 428-29. But during follow-up questioning by defense counsel, he reiterated his fear that he would be biased. RP 429. When asked, at the end of questioning, if he was still *uncertain* about his ability to be fair, he stated "I think so." RP 430.

The juror repeatedly stated that he was not sure if he could he be fair to Mr. Peña. And, as in <u>Gonzales</u>, he was never able to assure the parties and the court that he could be fair. Where a juror expresses partiality, and they do not subsequently assure the court of their impartiality, this constitutes bias. Excusal was warranted because 44 was biased under RCW 4.44.170(2).

The trial court clearly liked this juror. He was conscientious. The trial court appeared to deny the defense motion based on this admirable quality. RP 432. The court also noted that the juror had mentioned implicit bias (as discussed in a video shown to jurors) and that he would make efforts to keep implicit biases in check. RP 432. But, crucially, the trial court

failed to acknowledge the juror's actual expressed bias—in favor of children. RP 432. The complainants in this case were very young adults at the time of trial, but the State alleged they had been victimized as, and made disclosures as, children. Childhood, and childhood victimization, was the focus of the case. The trial court's ruling—which failed to acknowledge the very issue expressed by the juror—constituted an abuse of discretion. See Guevara Diaz, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 856.

Like prospective juror 44, the biased jurors in <u>Gonzales</u> and <u>Irby</u>, were likely conscientious. But it was precisely this admirable quality that led juror 44 to admit he was not the right juror for the case. The court failed to accept this juror at his word and erred in refusing to remove him for cause based on expressed bias. This Court should grant review and reverse.

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