FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/28/2021 11:12 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 99926-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Personal Restraint Petition of ALEJANDRO PEÑA SALVADOR,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

STEPHANIE FINN GUTHRIE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

second degree against J.O.; and one count of child molestation in the third degree against J.O.'s sister, L.O.² CP 50-55. The relevant facts are set forth in the State's briefing before the Court of Appeals. Br. of Respondent at 2-14, 33.

The Court of Appeals rejected Peña Salvador's appeal on the merits, affirming the convictions in a unanimous published opinion. State v. Peña Salvador, __ Wn. App. 2d __, 487 P.3d 923 (2021).

E. ARGUMENT

Peña Salvador seeks review of the Court of Appeals' holdings that (1) the trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying Peña Salvador's for-cause challenge to Juror 44 and (2) the community custody condition requiring Peña Salvador to avoid areas where children's activities "regularly occur or are occurring" is sufficiently crime-related and not unconstitutionally vague. The reasoning and authority set out in the Court of Appeals' opinion and the Brief of Respondent below amply demonstrate that the criteria for acceptance of review set out in RAP 13.4(b) are not met on those issues.

- 2 -

² The named minor victims are referred to by their initials in an attempt to protect their privacy.

Before reaching the merits of Peña Salvador's claim regarding the denial of his for-cause challenge to Juror 44, the Court of Appeals addressed the State's argument that Peña Salvador did not preserve his claim because he chose to let half his peremptory challenges go to waste rather than using one of them to remove the challenged juror. Peña Salvador, 487 P.3d at 928-31. The Court of Appeals acknowledged the logic and precedent from this Court supporting the State's position. Id. However, the court was troubled by more recent cases in which this Court and the United States Supreme Court have made broad pronouncements about a defendant's ability to appeal the denial of a for-cause challenge against a juror who goes on to be seated without articulating a distinction between the facts presented in those cases—in which the defendants exhausted their peremptory challenges—and cases where exhaustion had not occurred. Id. at 930-31. The Court of Appeals determined that it could "...not definitively conclude that Peña Salvador's challenge to Juror 44 is waived because he did not exhaust his peremptory challenges." Id. at 14.

If review is accepted, the State seeks cross-review of this holding. The provisions of RAP 13.4(b) are inapplicable because the State is not seeking review. However, it is worth noting that the preservation issue does in fact meet the criteria for acceptance of review because (1) the Court of Appeals' decision on that issue conflicts with "well-settled case law" set out in State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 762, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001), numerous preceding decisions of this Court cited in Clark, and the Court of Appeals' decisions in State v. Gebremariam, unpublished, No. 80235-6-I, 16 Wn. App. 2d 1009, 2021 WL 164707 (Jan. 19, 2021), and State v. Lewis, unpublished, No. 66977-0-I, 173 Wn. App. 1004, 2013 WL 312432 at *3 (2013), and (2) because it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. However, regardless of which party prevails, a ruling on the preservation issue alone would not change the outcome of Peña Salvador's appeal, and therefore review solely to address that question is likely not warranted. However, if this Court grants review on either of the substantive issues in Peña Salvador's petition, then in the interests of justice and full consideration of the issues the Court should also grant review of the preservation issue.

PEÑA SALVADOR WAIVED HIS FOR-CAUSE CHALLENGE OF JUROR 44 WHEN HE LATER ACCEPTED THE JURY WITHOUT EXHAUSTING HIS PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES.

Following the denial of Peña Salvador's for-cause challenge to Juror 44 and the completion of voir dire, Peña Salvador accepted the jury, with Juror 44 on it, despite having used only four of his eight peremptory challenges. CP 110; RP 639-40. This Court has repeatedly held that a defendant cannot obtain a new trial based on the allegedly erroneous denial of a challenge for cause if the defendant failed to exercise all available peremptory challenges.

State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 762, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001). In Clark, the defendant argued that the trial court erred by denying certain challenges for cause. Citing longstanding precedent, this Court rejected Clark's claim because he had not exercised all his peremptory challenges:

At the threshold this issue is not properly raised because Clark accepted the jury as ultimately empaneled and did not exercise all of his peremptory challenges. Under well-settled case law, Clark can therefore show no prejudice based on the jury's composition. State v. Tharp, 42 Wn.2d 494, 500, 256 P.2d 482 (1953) (defendant must show the use of all his peremptory challenges or he can show no prejudice arising from the selection and retention of a particular juror and is barred from any claim of error in this regard); State v. Collins, 50 Wn.2d 740, 744, 314 P.2d 660 (1957) (no prejudicial error where defendant

accepted the jury while having available peremptory challenges; nor did he challenge the panel); State v. Robinson, 75 Wn.2d 230, 231-32, 450 P.2d 180 (1969) (no prejudice may be shown where defendant failed to use all of his peremptory challenges); Gentry, 125 Wn.2d at 616, 888 P.2d 1105 (where defendant participated in selecting and ultimately accepted jury panel, his constitutional right to an impartial jury selected by him was not violated). We most recently reiterated this rule in State v. Elmore, 139 Wn.2d 250, 277, 985 P.2d 289 (1999), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 837, 121 S. Ct. 98, 148 L. Ed. 2d 57 (2000).

Clark, 143 Wn.2d at 762.

This rule is well-reasoned. It requires a defendant to assist the court in seating an unbiased jury by using a peremptory challenge to correct an erroneous for-cause ruling when a defendant has sufficient peremptories available. Without this rule, a defendant who believes the denial of his for-cause challenge was clearly erroneous is incentivized to sit on his hands, even when it would cost him nothing to remove the allegedly biased juror, and enjoy a "heads I win, tails you lose" situation: if he wins a favorable jury verdict, he can pocket his victory, and if he loses, he can get a new trial. Thompson v. Altheimer & Gray, 248 F.3d 621, 623 (7th Cir. 2001).

Moreover, as Juror 44 demonstrated in this case, sometimes a challenged juror's comments during the remainder of voir dire

reveal that he would in fact likely be a more favorable juror for the defense than many other members of the venire. RP 553, 564, 576-77, 602. In that situation, a defendant's decision to let a peremptory challenge go unused rather than remove the previously-challenged juror can be presumed to reflect a defendant's revised opinion that the juror is in fact not biased after all, and is preferable to the juror who would replace him if he were removed. See State v. Rice, 120 Wn.2d 549, 558-59, 844 P.2d 416 (1993) ("[I]f a defendant does not exercise all peremptory challenges it is presumed that he or she was satisfied with the jury."). This creates an even more extreme "heads I win, tails you lose" situation where the defendant gets to keep a juror he now wants and yet, if the verdict goes against him, he can argue on appeal that the juror's presence on the jury requires reversal of the conviction.

Our courts routinely apply procedural barriers, such as the doctrine of invited error, to eliminate these kinds of perverse incentives and windfalls. E.g., In re Dependency of K.R., 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 P.2d 1132 (1995) (under invited error doctrine, appellate courts will not review a party's assertion of an error to which the party materially contributed at trial). A defendant

who approves a jury panel without exhausting his peremptory challenges has affirmatively communicated that he finds the jurors who will be empaneled satisfactory. Just as a defendant who affirmatively agrees to the wording of a jury instruction cannot later challenge the instruction even on constitutional grounds, State v. Winings, 126 Wn. App. 75, 89, 107 P.3d 141 (2005), a defendant who accepts a jury panel without exhausting his peremptory challenges should not be allowed to later complain that his constitutional rights were violated by the seating of a juror he affirmatively accepted.

This issue became muddled in the eyes of defendants like Peña Salvador, and of some lower courts, following this Court's decision in State v. Fire, 145 Wn.2d 152, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001). In Fire, the issue was "whether, where a defendant exercises a peremptory challenge to remove a juror who should have been excused for cause and the defendant subsequently exhausts all of his peremptory challenges, the remedy is automatic reversal without a further showing of prejudice." Fire, 145 Wn.2d at 154 (emphasis added). This Court, finding article I, section 22 coextensive with the Sixth Amendment, applied the United States Supreme Court's decision in United States v. Martinez-Salazar, 528

U.S. 304, 120 S. Ct. 774, 145 L. Ed. 2d 792 (2000), to hold that "if a defendant through the use of a peremptory challenge elects to cure a trial court's error in not excusing a juror for cause, exhausts his peremptory challenges before the completion of jury selection, and is subsequently convicted by a jury on which no biased juror sat, he has not demonstrated prejudice, and reversal of his conviction is not warranted." Fire, 145 Wn.2d at 165. This reversed prior Washington caselaw holding that, where a defendant used a peremptory challenge to cure the erroneous denial of a for-cause challenge and subsequently exhausted his peremptory challenges, the loss of the curative peremptory challenge constituted sufficient prejudice to warrant reversal. Id. at 159-60, 162.

A plurality of this Court noted in dictum that "[i]f a defendant believes that a juror should have been excused for cause and the trial court refused his for-cause challenge, he may elect not to use a peremptory challenge and allow the juror to be seated. After conviction, he can win reversal on appeal if he can show that the trial court abused its discretion in denying the for-cause challenge." 145 Wn.2d at 158; see Gebremariam, 2021 WL 164707 at *2 (observing that quoted language from Fire is dictum). However, this Court reiterated repeatedly throughout the opinion that it was

discussing situations in which the defendant exhausts all peremptory challenges. <u>Fire</u>, 145 Wn.2d at 153-65. Between the plurality, concurring, and dissenting opinions, <u>Fire</u> contains 56 references to the exhaustion of peremptory challenges. <u>Id.</u> at 153-65, 168-77.

As a natural result of their exclusive focus on defendants who exhaust their peremptory challenges, the plurality and concurring opinions in Fire never addressed what would happen if a defendant leaves a challenged juror on the jury but does not exhaust his peremptory challenges, nor did they discuss Clark or the other longstanding precedent holding that a defendant may not obtain reversal if he did not exercise all of his peremptory challenges. Id. at 153-65. However, the dissent did so several times, with no suggestion that the majority was in any way departing from that rule. E.g., id. at 169-70 (Sanders, J., dissenting) (citing a 1893 case holding that the use of a peremptory challenge to cure the denial of a for-cause challenge creates no prejudice if the defendant does not exhaust all his peremptory challenges, as support for the dissent's contention that relief should be granted where peremptories have been exhausted).

When the statements on which Peña Salvador relies are viewed in context, <u>Fire</u> cannot be read as overturning, *sub silentio*, more than a century of settled law. <u>See State v. Studd</u>, 137 Wn.2d 533, 548, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999) ("We will not overrule . . . binding precedent *sub silentio.*"); <u>see also Gebremariam</u>, 2021 WL 164707 at *2 (holding that <u>Fire</u> does not overrule <u>Clark</u> because it does not address situations where a defendant failed to exhaust all peremptory challenges); <u>Lewis</u>, 2013 WL 312432 at *3 (2013) (same).

In reaching a contrary conclusion, the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case conflicts with <u>Clark</u> and its predecessors, as well as with <u>Gebremariam</u> and <u>Lewis</u>. The Court of Appeals distinguished <u>Clark</u> and its predecessors on the grounds that none of them involved the denial of a for-cause challenge against a juror who was eventually seated on the jury. <u>Peña Salvador</u>, 487 P.3d at 929. Curiously, the Court of Appeals highlighted <u>Clark</u>'s failure to cite <u>United States v. Martinez-Salazar</u>, <u>State v. Parnell</u>, or <u>State v. Stentz</u>5—cases in which the defendant *exhausted their*

_

³ 528 U.S. 304, 310, 316, 120 S. Ct. 774, 145 L. Ed. 2d 792 (2000).

⁴ 77 Wn.2d 503, 463 P.2d 134 (1969), abrogated by Fire, 145 Wn.2d 152.

⁵ 30 Wash. 134, 70 P. 241 (1902), <u>abrogated by State v. Fire</u>, 145 Wn.2d 152, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001).

peremptory challenges after using one to remove a juror they had unsuccessfully challenged for cause—as a reason to conclude that Clark "is not precisely on point here." Peña Salvador, 487 P.3d at 929.

The Court of Appeals noted that two published Court of Appeals opinions have applied <u>Fire</u> to permit reversal based on the erroneous denial of a for-cause challenge even when the defendant has not exhausted his peremptory challenges: <u>State v. Gonzales</u>, 111 Wn. App. 276, 45 P.3d 205 (2002), and <u>State v. David</u>, 118 Wn. App. 61, 74 P.3d 686 (2003), <u>modified on remand on other grounds</u>, 130 Wn. App. 232, 122 P.3d 764 (2005). <u>Peña Salvador</u>, 487 P.3d at 930. <u>Gonzales</u> quoted the dicta in <u>Fire</u>, and the similar dicta in <u>Martinez-Salazar</u> on which <u>Fire</u> relied, ⁶ as authority to reverse a conviction due to the erroneous denial of a for-cause

_

⁶ As in <u>Fire</u>, the <u>Martinez-Salazar</u> court's generalized statement that the seating of a juror who should have been dismissed for cause requires reversal was dictum, because Martinez-Salazar exhausted his peremptory challenges after using one to remove the juror he had unsuccessfully challenged for cause. <u>Martinez-Salazar</u>, 528 U.S. at 316-17; <u>Thompson v. Altheimer & Gray</u>, 248 F.3d 621, 623 (7th Cir. 2001) (noting <u>Martinez-Salazar</u>'s statement about seating of a biased juror "is dictum"). Moreover, the authority <u>Martinez-Salazar</u> cited for that dictum was <u>Ross v. Oklahoma</u>'s statement that "'Had [the biased juror] sat on the jury that ultimately sentenced petitioner to death, *and had petitioner properly preserved his right to challenge the trial court's failure to remove [the juror] for cause*, the sentence would have to be overturned." <u>Martinez-Salazar</u>, 528 U.S. at 316 (quoting <u>Ross v. Oklahoma</u>, 487 U.S. 81, 85, 108 S. Ct. 2273, 101 L. Ed. 2d 80 (1988)) (alterations in original) (emphasis added).

challenge without considering what effect Gonzales' failure to exhaust his peremptory challenges should have. 111 Wn. App. 276, 282, 45 P.3d 205 (2002). David considered the failure to exhaust peremptory challenges but did not address Clark and its predecessors or the fact that Fire exhausted his peremptory challenges. 118 Wn. App. at 68. David simply held, erroneously and without analysis, that the Fire dicta constituted a rejection by this Court of any argument that a defendant who fails to use all of his peremptory challenges has waived his right to appeal the denial of a challenge for cause. David, 118 Wn. App. at 68.

The Court of Appeals in this case acknowledged that "whether or not defendants have exhausted their peremptory challenges constitutes a significant distinction that Gonzales and David failed to confront." Pena Salvador, 487 P.3d at 931.

However, "[d]espite the compelling parallels to the invited error doctrine and the factual distinctions from Fire and Martinez-Salazar," the Court of Appeals was troubled by this Court's failure to differentiate in Fire "between cases in which a defendant has exhausted their peremptory challenges and those in which they have not for purposes of the waiver argument." Pena Salvador, 487 P.3d at 931. The court concluded that, "[r]eading together the

existing authority in <u>Martinez-Salazar</u>, <u>Fire</u>, <u>Gonzales</u>, and <u>David</u>, we cannot definitively conclude that Peña Salvador's challenge to Juror 44 is waived because he did not exhaust his peremptory challenges." <u>Pena Salvador</u>, 487 P.3d at 931.

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